Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Geoderma Regional



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/geodrs

Soils2026 and digital soil mapping – A foundation for the future of soils information in the United States



James A. Thompson ^{a,*}, Suzann Kienast-Brown ^b, Tom D'Avello ^c, Jessica Philippe ^d, Colby Brungard ^e

^a West Virginia University, Morgantown, West Virginia, USA

^b USDA-NRCS, Bozeman, MT, USA

^c USDA-NRCS, Morgantown, West Virginia, USA

^d USDA-NRCS, St. Johnsbury, VT, USA

^e New Mexico State University, Las Cruces, NM, USA

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 3 March 2020 Received in revised form 30 April 2020 Accepted 4 May 2020

Keywords: Digital soil mapping Soil property maps Soil survey Multiple soil classes

ABSTRACT

Soils are our most critical natural resource. However, urgent social, economic, and environmental issues such as carbon sequestration, drought mitigation, and nutrient management are forcing us to seek answers to questions using incomplete soil data and/or inappropriate soil information. The United States (US) Department of Agriculture-Natural Resources Conservation Service (USDA-NRCS), Soil and Plant Science Division has launched Soils2026, an ambitious initiative to provide a new inventory of soils and provisional ecological sites for all areas of the United States by 2026. Soils2026 aims to provide basic soil and ecological site information that will be useful to land managers, ecologists, modelers, and other natural resource professionals. This effort will rely heavily on digital soil mapping (DSM) to produce the next generation of raster-based soil information products for the interpretation of soil physical, chemical, and biological properties across the United States.

The USDA-NRCS Digital Soil Mapping Focus Team was formed to support Soils2026 and includes collaborating members from the National Cooperative Soil Survey representing the NRCS, US Geological Survey, USDA Forest Service, West Virginia University, and New Mexico State University. The DSM Focus Team is applying the latest DSM methods to produce continuous soil property predictions and estimates of uncertainty for all areas of the United States. Initially, the 30-m resolution products will include predictions for 12 key soil properties at six depth intervals, conforming to GlobalSoilMap specifications, with the option to expand properties or add class predictions as user needs demonstrate. Interpretations for use and management will be derived from the continuous properties products and provided to users. Fundamental pedology and communication of soil knowledge will be the primary focus of this effort, yielding a framework for delivery of seamless raster-based soils data for all areas of the United States on yearly cycles. This framework will foster an environment of continuous improvement and support a complete, consistent, correct, comprehensive, and current inventory of the soil resources of the United States.

© 2020 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

Contents

1.	Introduction	2
	1.1. About Soils2026	
2.	Products	
	2.1. Existing products	
	2.1.1. National scale	2
	2.1.2. Local scale	
	2.2. New products	
	2.3. Covariate stacks	
3.	Institutions	
	3.1. Training	4

* Corresponding author.

E-mail address: james.thompson@mail.wvu.edu (J.A. Thompson).



3.1.1.	Curriculum
3.1.2.	DSM Field Weeks
3.2. Suppor	rt5
4. Summary	
Acknowledgements	s
References	

1. Introduction

Traditional soil survey in the United States "describes the characteristics of the soils in a given area, classifies the soils according to a standard system of taxonomy, plots the boundaries of the soils on a map, stores soil property information in an organized database, and makes predictions about the suitability and limitations of each soil for multiple uses as well as their likely response to management systems" (Soil Science Division Staff, 2017, p. 1). This definition, however, implies that soil survey map products are restricted to polygon-based maps of soil classes (polygon-class maps). While this paradigm has sufficed for much of the 120-year history of the National Cooperative Soil Survey (NCSS) program in the United States, advances in technology and expansion of end-user requirements have prompted the NCSS to consider raster-based maps of soil classes (raster-class maps) and soil properties (raster-property maps). The raster-class maps were initially seen as intermediate products that were precursors to the desired polygon-class maps. More recently, the raster-property maps have been recognized not merely as site-specific research projects with little or no utility for soil survey, but as broadly-applicable products suitable for management applications involving user-defined management interpretations (e.g., Nauman et al., 2015, 2017).

In response to the growing recognition of the vital role of soils in supporting and maintaining critical Earth systems (McBratney et al., 2014; Adhikari and Hartemink, 2016), there is growing demand from decision-makers for more accurate and higher resolution soils information (Grunwald et al., 2011; Folberth et al., 2016). The recent trend is for raster-based maps of individual soil properties (Wood et al., 2011; Arrouays et al., 2014a; Hengl et al., 2014, 2017) that are compatible with other environmental geospatial data as input into geographic information systems and other decision support systems (Grunwald et al., 2011).

1.1. About Soils2026

Building on a 120-year history of creating and maintaining the inventory of soil and ecological resources of the United States, the USDA-NRCS has made a renewed commitment to a nationwide soil and ecological site knowledgebase. Known as Soils2026, this overarching commitment includes investments of time and resources targeted across multiple aspects of the NCSS to ensure that the inventory remains relevant to internal and external customers—both current and potential future users of soil and ecological site (Bestelmeyer and Brown, 2016) products and services.

Soils2026 is an initiative to complete the resource inventory for all areas of the United States by 2026. This effort will include both the soils and ecological site inventory and will provide publicly-available basic soils information that will be useful to land managers, ecologists, modelers, and other natural resource professionals. Soils2026 is an ambitious effort that will add to the available soil resource information for the United States through development of a new generation of soil information products to provide flexible, raster-based digital maps for interpretation of soil physical and chemical properties across the United States. The goal of these efforts is to collect, quantify, interpret, and communicate knowledge of soil science to a diverse community of scientists, modelers, land managers, and decision-makers dependent upon soil resources. This initiative is motivated by an overall purpose of increasing our geospatial knowledge of the soil resources of the United States at local, regional, and continental scales. The USDA-NRCS DSM Focus Team provides leadership within the NRCS Soil and Plant Science Division (SPSD) for development of current and future DSM activities by establishing standards for DSM products, developing and delivering training to SPSD and NCSS soil scientists, providing support to SPSD and NCSS DSM practitioners, and establishing mechanisms to deliver new DSM products and ancillary data to internal and external customers. By advancing our understanding of soil use and management practices at all scales, these new soil data products will better inform and guide decision making by the research community and the public. Therefore, it is critical that research and development efforts investigate both the spatial and temporal scaling of soils across the landscape. Individual projects will conform to the larger agenda of improving the digital soil geographic knowledge base of the United States. The technical expertise of the NRCS National Soil Survey Center (NSSC) staff, as well as that of university partners, state and local NRCS staff, and other NCSS collaborators will direct research efforts towards projects related to developing products that provide more consistent and detailed interpretation of soil-landscape processes using terrain analysis, remote sensing, and DSM techniques (McBratney et al., 2003; Minasny and McBratney, 2016).

2. Products

2.1. Existing products

2.1.1. National scale

While soil survey in the United States is, practically speaking, about producing a localized tool for land management, there is value in having regional- and national-scale soil information products, whether that is for the purposes of broader planning and decision-making, or for inventory and accounting (e.g., C stocks, crop yield projections, degradation risk assessment). Efforts to produce complete and consistent national-scale interpretive soil maps for the United States began in the 1980s. As local-level soil surveys were becoming more common, some attention was given to the development of state-wide soil maps and databases (i.e., the State Soil Geographic, or STATSGO, database) (Soil Conservation Service, 1991), which were then generalized to national soil map products (i.e., the National Soil Geographic, or NATSGO, database) (Bliss et al., 1995).

More recently in the United States, in part driven by initiatives like GlobalSoilMap (GSM) (Sanchez et al., 2009; Arrouays et al., 2014a) and in part driven by increasing needs for more accurate and precise estimates of soil resources for the United States, new national-scale soil maps have been developed. Odgers et al. (2012) began by reinterpreting the polygon class maps of the STATSGO database to develop raster maps of individual soil properties at a 90-m resolution. While Odgers et al. (2012) presented only the soil organic C map products, all 12 GSM properties were derived from the STATSGO database. Helmick et al. (2014) demonstrated that the prediction intervals derived from the STATSGO database also approximated the specification for the 90% prediction intervals for GSM products.

Seeking greater spatial detail than offered by the STATSGO-derived products but wanting to avoid problems associated with SSURGO

(e.g., Thompson et al., 2012), Chaney et al. (2016) capitalized on contemporary developments in the area of spatial disaggregation (Sun et al., 2010; Subburavalu et al., 2014; Odgers et al., 2014; Nauman and Thompson, 2014; Nauman et al., 2014) to develop POLARIS, a disaggregated version of SSURGO that depicts soil series at a 30-m resolution for all of the continental United States. Chaney et al. (2019) later extended the POLARIS raster-class maps to provide predictions of 13 selected soil properties for six depth increments (0-5, 5-15, 15-30, 30-60, 60-100, 100–200) at a resolution of 30 m. In contrast, following the example of Hengl et al. (2014, 2017), a set of national-scale soil map products at 100 m resolution for the continental United States were derived directly from point observations by Ramcharan et al. (2018). These products included grids for six soil properties (organic C, total N, bulk density, pH, sand, clay) at seven standard depths (0, 5, 15, 30, 60, 100, 200 cm) as well as predictions of taxonomic great group and particle size class (Ramcharan et al., 2018).

2.1.2. Local scale

As previously stated, soil survey in the United States is largely focused on producing a localized tool for land management. Over the past two decades, DSM methods have gradually been incorporated into local-level mapping projects to provide information on unmapped lands, as well as update existing SSURGO soil maps. Some of these projects have resulted in a published Raster Soil Survey (RSS), which is a raster-class product with a supporting database that mirrors SSURGO data, while other projects have merely used DSM techniques to support the development of a traditional vector-based SSURGO product. These projects have implemented a variety of classification approaches, but most commonly machine learning and knowledge-based classification were employed. Two notable examples of these RSS projects include soil surveys of Essex County, Vermont, and the Boundary Waters Canoe Area, Minnesota.

Knowledge-based soil inference classification (Shi et al., 2004) was used to develop the Essex County, Vermont, soil survey (Shi et al., 2009, 2012; McKay et al., 2010). When it was first published in 2011 the Essex County soil survey was the first SSURGO product developed with DSM methods. For the 175,000-ha survey, a variety of raster classes were modeled, ranging from single component-level classes in the easiest-to-model areas of loamy lodgment till to broader, landformbased classes in other areas. These raster classes were aggregated and processed as needed to produce the vector-based traditional soil survey. In addition to SSURGO, a component-level RSS was published for the loamy lodgment till catena, an area of about 75,000 ha.

The Boundary Waters Canoe Area Wilderness soil survey was a unique project with a goal of mapping approximately 400,000 ha of limited access wilderness along the Canadian border in northern Minnesota. A team of DSM practitioners collaborated on this project and employed a variety of classification techniques, including machine learning, knowledge-based classification, unsupervised classification, logistic regression, and heads-up digitizing for the most difficult to model but important classes, such as glacial eskers. The final raster map was a hybrid of results from the various classification techniques and is published as a RSS. The final raster map was used to inform the creation of a vector-based product that is published as part of the SSURGO database.

2.2. New products

A complete, consistent, correct, comprehensive, and current inventory of the soil resources of the United States is needed. The emphasis on developing soil property layers at predefined depths is in keeping with the needs of users (Sanchez et al., 2009; Grunwald et al., 2011; Arrouays et al., 2014a). The primary deliverables for Soils2026 will be spatial predictions of selected soil properties at a 30-m spatial resolution for six standard depth intervals (0–5, 5–15, 15–30, 30–60, 60–100, 100–200 cm) following GSM specifications (Arrouays et al., 2014b). A resolution of 30 m was selected for two reasons. First, this will ensure that the soil property grids developed for the United States will be compatible with other spatial dataset used for environmental analysis, modeling, and decision-making (Arrouays et al., 2014), which in the United States include the National Elevation Dataset, the Landsat Archive, and the National Land Cover Database. Second, a resolution of 30 m provides a balance between the desire for greater spatial detail and the need to minimize file size (which impacts both data processing requirements and data storage requirements). The target properties will be: pH, organic C (g kg⁻¹), sand (g kg⁻¹), silt (g kg⁻¹), clay (g kg⁻¹), rock fragments (m³ m⁻³), effective cation exchange capacity $(\text{cmol}_{c} \text{ kg}^{-1})$, bulk density of the fine earth fraction (Mg m⁻³), bulk density of the whole soil (Mg m^{-3}) and available water capacity (mm) at all six depth intervals plus plant-exploitable soil depth (i.e., depth to root limiting layer) and total profile depth (i.e., depth to rock). In addition, the uncertainty associated with each prediction will be provided in the form of a 90% prediction interval. Predictions of other soil properties, such as electrical conductivity (dS/m), may also be produced.

These efforts in the United States are a continuation of the work by Odgers et al. (2012) and Libohova et al. (2014), and because these efforts are aligned with the GSM initiative, the specifications are similar to those associated with other recent national-scale efforts to develop GSM-compatible products, such as in Australia (Grundy et al., 2015; Viscarra Rossel et al., 2015), Denmark (Adhikari et al., 2013, 2014), France (Mulder et al., 2016a, 2016b), and Chile (Padarian et al., 2017). The new products for the United States will be at a higher resolution than has been produced for Australia, France, and Chile, but approximately equal to those developed for Denmark. In part, this difference in resolution may be attributable to the higher resolution environmental covariates used in Denmark and available for the United States. As was the case in Australia, the US grids will encompass all of the targeted soil properties in the GSM specifications (Arrouays et al., 2014b). And, as was done in Australia, France, and Chile, the US products will include uncertainty information in the form of prediction intervals for all soil property maps.

Predictions will be derived from the application of machine learning models developed using soil profile databases (e.g., the NCSS Soil Characterization Database, the Rapid Carbon Assessment (RaCA) database, the National Soil Information System (NASIS) database) and a range of geospatial datasets that are expected to influence patterns of soil variability across the landscape, including (i) terrain covariates (e.g., slope gradient, slope curvature, topographic wetness index, multiresolution valley bottom flatness), (ii) PRISM (PRISM Climate Group, 2015) climate covariates (e.g., precipitation, mean temperature), (iii) Landsat products (e.g., NDVI), and (iv) soil properties and classes (e.g., SSURGO). The NCSS Pedon Characterization Database (https:// ncsslabdatamart.sc.egov.usda.gov/) alone contains entries for ~400,000 soil horizons from ~65,000 pedons, ~52,000 of which are georeferenced (J. Nemecek, personal communication, March 2019). These data will require further scrutiny to remove duplicate pedons, update classification, address missing data, and/or harmonize property data measured using different methods (e.g., Sulaeman et al., 2013; Libohova et al., 2014). Over time, new pedons will be added, either through ongoing field observations or the capture and rescue of legacy pedons (e.g., Arrouays et al., 2017).

The modeling and mapping process will follow standard protocols that have been developed and implemented for many DSM initiatives. We will begin with assembling all available point and pedon data. Prior to modeling these data will be cleaned (e.g., missing or erroneous values corrected or removed, coordinates verified, consistency checks) and prepared (e.g., harmonized to the six standard depths). A model training matrix will be extracted from the covariate stack and the predictive models will be built and validated. These models will be evaluated using sample points not included in the training matrix.

Developing predictive soil maps for the United States at such a high resolution has not been previously attempted at a national scale; however, there are recent examples demonstrating that soil properties can been modeled and predicted successfully at a resolution of 30 m (Nauman and Duniway, 2016, 2019; Nauman et al., 2017). Also, it should be noted that, unlike conventional polygon mapping, the resolution of the raster spatial prediction is not an indication of the accuracy or precision associated with the prediction (Arrouays et al., 2014a, Arrouays et al., 2020). Higher resolutions are feasible with increased computing power. These efforts will benefit from the >120-yr history of the US soil survey program, which has resulted in a rich legacy of polygon soil maps that cover >90% of the country. A disaggregation of soil surveys resulted in high resolution predictions of some, but not all, of the targeted soil properties across the continental United States (Chaney et al., 2016, 2019). It is unclear specifically how these will be included in the final analysis, but model averaging (Malone et al., 2014) is a possibility.

While the goal is a nationally-consistent set of soil property grids, the DSM Focus Team is still evaluating the merits of developing single national models for each property or developing multiple regional models that will be joined together to produce national maps. Mulder et al. (2016b) compared predictions derived from national models for France to predictions derived from global models (SoilGrids1km; Hengl et al., 2014) and concluded that the national models were superior to the global models.

2.3. Covariate stacks

An initial step in almost every DSM initiative is to prepare and compile a collection of environmental covariates to be used in developing predictive models of soil variability, with terrain derivatives and spectral derivatives being the most common covariates (McBratney et al., 2003). At regional, national, or continental scales, these covariates are most frequently derived from authoritative sources. In the United States, the US Geological Survey (USGS) National Elevation Dataset is the authoritative source for digital elevation data, with digital elevation models (DEM) available at 30 m resolution for the entire country (and at higher resolutions for selected areas). Similarly, for spectral data the Landsat dataset is the authoritative source for surface reflectance products. However, while most DSM initiatives use the same source data, there is a multitude of individual terrain derivatives that can be prepared from gridded DEM data; and for some of these terrain attributes, there are multiple methods for calculating or representing them (e.g., slope gradient, slope aspect, slope curvature). To both ensure the availability of a standard set of environmental covariates for current and future DSM projects, and to reduce the amount of repeated effort distributed to individual DSM practitioners, the DSM Focus Team has created a standard covariate stack for the United States at a resolution of 30 m. Currently 56 seamless terrain covariates have been derived for the continental United States including elevation, slope gradient, slope curvature (profile, plan, longitudinal, cross-sectional, minimum, maximum, and total), mass balance index, convergence index, diurnal anisotropic heating, multi-scale topographic position index, multiresolution valley bottom flatness, multiresolution ridge top flatness, terrain ruggednesss index, terrain surface convexity, catchment area, catchment slope, modified catchment area, topographic wetness index, SAGA wetness index, positive openness, relative position (multiple window sizes), relative height (multiple window sizes), and stream power index. Additionally, 13 seamless surface reluctance products that cover the continental United States have been created, including a 6band Landsat composite image (with disturbance removed), variations of the normalized difference vegetation index (NDVI), and variations of the soil adjusted total vegetation index (SATVI). All covariates will be stacked to ensure consistent extents and alignment.

By ensuring that all DSM practitioners have access to the same set of environmental covariates we can maintain consistency of the DSM inputs and, presumably, greater reproducibility in the DSM outputs. Among other benefits, this will allow these DSM practitioners to maintain the emphasis on soil science and not geographic information science. Scripts that implement geoprocessing routines (as well as other aspects of DSM) have been made available via GitHub (https://github. com/ColbyBrungard/Geoprocess-by-area) to further improve the adoption rate of DSM practices, reduce barriers to implementation, and provide method transparency.

3. Institutions

In some ways, data collection, management, and analysis are the easy parts of operational DSM. While more and better data will always be a goal, and while analysis and modeling techniques will continue to evolve, it is the human capacity that has limited the adoption and dissemination of DSM at an institutional level in the United States. Consequently, the NRCS has invested time and resources in building capacity among soil scientists through both top-down and bottom-up approaches.

The motivation of the DSM Focus Team is to produce the next generation of soil information products that will provide a flexible raster-based product for interpretation of soil physical, chemical, and biological properties across the United States. The focus will be fundamental pedology, i.e., understanding the soil resource as a natural body. The primary difference will be inclusion of the latest technological resources—hardware, spatial data, quantitative methods—adaptively applied throughout the process. Consequently, we aim to emphasize that this effort is about soil knowledge. The resulting data and information will be a product of our knowledge of the soil resource. Furthermore, we are focused on the users of soils data.

The DSM Focus Team works to coordinate DSM activities across the SPSD, and is charged with updating soil survey standards (e.g., NSSH Part 648 – Digital Soil Mapping – Raster Products), assembling existing data, identifying training needs, developing and delivering training, and producing raster-based soil information products. The DSM Focus Team maintains a web site (https://www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/portal/nrcs/ main/soils/focusteams/), which serves as an online information portal for the various training and outreach activities of the DSM Focus Team and a gathering place for DSM practitioners. From the website those with an interest in DSM activities can obtain links to progress reports, job aids, recorded webinars, presentations, applications for assistance, and other resources. Within the DSM Focus Team there are three subteams: one responsible for the development of the national-scale raster property grids (the Properties Sub-team), one to help facilitate the application of DSM techniques to creating raster products for currently unmapped areas of the United States (the Initial Mapping Sub-team), and one to assist in the application of DSM techniques to creating raster products for areas with existing soil maps (the Update Mapping Sub-team).

3.1. Training

At a national level, in addition to the DSM Focus Team, the NRCS has created 11 other Focus Teams through the Soils2026 initiative, including one charged with coordinating the training needs across the SPSD. The DSM Focus Team has worked with the Training Focus Team to review the existing training offerings, make recommendations on new and improved courses and means of delivery, and expand the training opportunities available to soil scientists with an interest in DSM.

3.1.1. Curriculum

In order to build capacity in DSM among soil scientists in the NCSS and SPSD, the DSM Focus Team has developed a training curriculum (Fig. 1) that progresses from basic concepts to advanced application of DSM in soil survey activities. The curriculum was largely built from existing formal training courses with the addition of the foundational



Fig. 1. The current DSM training curriculum for NRCS soil scientists.

Introduction to DSM course and implemented in 2018. This introductory course is viewed as a basic requirement for all soil scientists in the SPSD, regardless of position in the organization. The basic concepts presented in this course allow for consistent understanding of the DSM framework and process, and how it can be effectively applied in soil survey activities to produce raster-based soil information products. Once the introductory course is completed, and depending on their career goals and expectations, soil scientists may choose to move on to the advanced courses, which present deeper inspection of concepts, methods, and application of topics presented in the introductory course.

3.1.2. DSM Field Weeks

While a complete training sequence that provides the theory and practical skills for conducting DSM projects has been available to the NCSS and SPSD staff since 2018, feedback from DSM trainees has indicated that they often have difficulty taking the next step of implementation after training and note the small network of similarly knowledgeable collaborators. In response, the DSM Focus Team designed and implemented a new applied training opportunity within the DSM training curriculum known as DSM Field Weeks. These intensive training exercises help soil scientists successfully initiate and complete DSM-centric projects. These project-focused training opportunities are offered in one or two locations every year to bring together DSM practitioners from NRCS, universities, and cooperating agencies to work with field soil scientists that are pursuing DSMcentric projects and building capacity in DSM. As such, the objectives for conducting the DSM Field Weeks are to:

- Develop a nationwide network of soil scientists informed by DSM techniques,
- ii) Cross-train local soil scientists and DSM experts while helping deliver soil survey products,
- iii) Develop knowledge and expertise of soil scientists embarking on their first DSM efforts,
- iv) Target sparsely investigated project areas or modeling problems, and
- v) Increase the network of point observations across the United States and Territories.

Selection of field week sites and projects is based on an open application process soliciting Soil Survey Offices interested in hosting the Field Week. Eligible offices must have staff who have completed the Introduction to DSM training course, a project with clearly defined objectives that include application of DSM methods, and corresponding support from the Regional Office. Offices must be able to demonstrate the availability of covariate and pedon observation data, clearly outline expectations of the DSM Focus Team participants, identify expected deliverables and timelines, and explain how participation in the field week will support the goals of Soils2026.

Teleconferences take place prior to the Field Weeks to ensure that participants are familiar with the project (background, project design, goals, etc.). These teleconferences are supplemented by other preparatory work related to covariate data development, compiling available pedon data, and sampling design to be completed by project staff and DSM Focus Team members. This maximizes the benefit of funds and time allocated to the field week and project. Activities during the Field Weeks include field-based investigations, data analysis, and model development. Field efforts include an introduction to the project area, particularly the soil-landscape relationships, and collection of new pedon data. Additional training on modeling techniques is also provided during the week.

The weeks and months following completion of the Field Weeks are used for continued training, support, and collaboration between the DSM Focus Team members and the Soil Survey Office to achieve their project goals as outlined in the Field Week application. The Field Week participants will deliver a spatial product in raster format according to the project timetable. Each DSM Field Week targets a specific project, but the contributions of soil scientists from across the country helps spread the knowledge far beyond the targeted project area. The opportunity for participants to share and apply their gained experience and knowledge in their local projects, offices, and regions is significant. Reporting on the outcomes of each DSM Field Week to broader audiences is also encouraged, such as through webinars, presentations at regional and national meetings, and participation in international workshops.

3.2. Support

In addition to providing formal training opportunities through the DSM curriculum, the DSM Focus Team has implemented a project support system for DSM practitioners within the NCSS and the SPSD. A community of DSM practitioners engage in monthly discussions led by the DSM Focus Team. The discussion topics vary from theoretical to operational, but always focus on a topic of practical interest such as sampling design, covariate selection, or validation. The dialog is led by DSM practitioners and often presented in the context of an ongoing mapping project. These monthly sessions offer the opportunity for exchange of ideas, solicitation of advice, and general learning. More importantly, a growing community of scientists are connecting through a common interest in DSM. And this connectedness extends beyond the monthly teleconferences through sharing of tools and resources, such as custom R scripts to implement various DSM workflows (e.g., covariate development, pedon cleaning), which are housed in a GitHub repository where users can share scripts they have developed or ideas that they have tried.

Another avenue of support for ongoing DSM activities is being delivered through a project mentoring program. As capacity in DSM is building in the NCSS and SPSD, there is a recognized lag time between receiving training, implementing skills in mapping projects, and becoming proficient enough to conduct DSM projects independently. The mentoring program is meant to fill that gap by providing a mentor with the appropriate DSM skillset to eligible projects. Soil Survey Offices may request to have a mentor assigned to them to help them achieve their project goals. Requests may vary in intensity from specific tasks, like sampling design, to general project support from start to finish. The DSM mentor is meant only to be available for guidance and questions as needed; the Soil Survey Office staff is expected to complete the project tasks independently. The intent is that the Soil Survey Office staff become more proficient and confident in DSM through the process, and in turn can become mentors for other projects. As capacity in DSM builds and reaches a critical point through training, application, practitioner discussions, and the mentoring program, the expectation is that the project mentoring program will become unnecessary and DSM will be standard mapping practice for all soil survey activities.

4. Summary

The USDA-NRCS, through its Soils2026 initiative, has made a commitment to a complete, consistent, correct, comprehensive, and current nationwide soil and ecological site knowledgebase for the benefit of land managers, ecologists, modelers, and other natural resource professionals. Facilitated by the DSM Focus Team, progress to date has included improved communication of DSM objectives and methodologies within the SPSD, the development of resources for training and support for DSM practitioners, and the compilation of DSM data and tools. Biweekly or monthly teleconferences facilitate discussion, collaboration, and support for ongoing projects among the DSM Focus Team members and DSM practitioners; while presentations by members of the DSM Focus Team at conferences, workshops, and through webinars increases the awareness of DSM initiatives to soil scientists and natural resources professionals both within and outside the NRCS. The DSM training curriculum within the NRCS has significantly increased the number of soil scientists in the SPSD with the necessary foundational skills to begin to implement DSM workflows in their mapping projects. Support for aspiring DSM practitioners is being provided through a formal mentoring program, published job aids, and other training materials. Among advanced DSM practitioners, access to a standard covariate stack for the continental United States and fully vetted modeling scripts will ensure well-documented, consistent, and reproducible DSM products. As a result, the DSM Focus Team is producing continuous soil properties predictions and estimates of uncertainty for all areas of the United States, with updates to these seamless raster-based soil maps on yearly cycles. In addition, interpretations for use and management will be derived from the continuous properties products and provided to users.

Despite this progress, there remain multiple challenges to fully operational development, delivery, and adoption of DSM products in the United States. First and foremost is having staff with both the skillset and the time to create the various DSM products, deliver the DSM training, and provide support to both DSM practitioners and end-users. At present there exists a relatively small group of DSM practitioners that are doing most of the work. However, the goal of the training efforts is to expand the size of that group. Most of the newly-trained field soil scientists throughout the SPSD will be developing local-scale models, with most of these being raster-class products that will integrate DSM into soil survey production. However, a growing number of DSM experts will be involved in the development of the national continuous property products. To provide the desired training from within the DSM training curriculum to all SPSD staff it will be necessary to increase the current frequency at which some training courses are offered. Furthermore, it will be necessary for training instructors and other mentors to provide continuing support to trainees after the completion of the courses to ensure that the lessons learned and skills gained during the training are correctly and effectively put in to practice by the trainees. There will also need to be a significant investment in computing resources to facilitate the storage, access, analysis, and delivery of DSM products and ancillary data. In particular, protocols for the effective delivery of the new raster-property maps with their associated uncertainty information will need to be developed. Finally, it will be imperative that the DSM Focus Team, DSM practitioners within the NCSS, and SPSD leadership continue to communicate to value of these DSM products to end users. These efforts will ensure that the NRCS continues to be recognized as the authoritative source for a dynamic soil survey that provides a relevant soil and ecological site inventory, as well as associated products and services.

Acknowledgements

This work was presented at the IUSS Joint Workshop on Digital Soil Mapping and GlobalSoilMap in Santiago, Chile, in March 2019. We thank Prof. Osvaldo Salazar Guerrero and all of his team for hosting this conference at the University of Chile. Other members of the USDA-NRCS DSM Focus Team include Dylan Beaudette (USDA-NRCS), Joe Brennan (USDA-NRCS), Chad Ferguson (USDA-NRCS), Zamir Libohova (USDA-NRCS), Stephen Roecker (USDA-NRCS), Alex Stum (USDA-NRCS), Travis Nauman (USGS), Chance Robinson (USDA-NRCS), Rob Vaughan (USDA-FS), Dave White (USDA-NRCS), and Skye Wills (USDA-NRCS). Portions of this work were supported by the United States Department of Agriculture Natural Resources Conservation Service through NRCS Agreement # 68-7482-16-566 and NRCS Agreement # NR1974820006C001.

References

- Adhikari, K., Hartemink, A.E., 2016. Linking soils to ecosystem services a global review. Geoderma 262, 101–111.
- Adhikari, K., Kheir, R.B., Greve, M.B., Bøcher, P.K., Malone, B.P., Minasny, B., McBratney, A.B., Greve, M.H., 2013. High-resolution 3-D mapping of soil texture in Denmark. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 77 (3), 860–876.
- Adhikari, K., Hartemink, A.E., Minasny, B., Kheir, R.B., Greve, M.B., Greve, M.H., 2014. Digital mapping of soil organic carbon contents and stocks in Denmark. PLoS One 9 (8).
- Arrouays, D., Grundy, M.G., Hartemink, A.E., Hempel, J., Heuvelink, G.B.M., Hong, S.Y., Lagacherie, P., Lelyk, G., McBratney, A.B., McKenzie, N.J., Mendonça Santos, M.L., Minasny, B., Montanarella, L., Odeh, I.O.A., Sanchez, P.A., Thompson, J.A., Zhang, G.L., 2014a. GlobalSoilMap: toward a fine-resolution global grid of soil properties. Adv. Agron. 125, 93–134.
- Arrouays, D., McBratney, A.B., Minasny, B., Hempel, J.W., Heuvelink, G.B.M., MacMillan, R.A., Hartemink, A.E., Lagacherie, P., McKenzie, N.J., 2014b. The GlobalSoilMap project specifications. In: Arrouays, D., et al. (Eds.), GlobalSoilMap: Basis of the Global Spatial Soil Information System. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, pp. 9–12.
- Arrouays, D., Leenaars, J.G.B., Richer-de-Forges, A.C., Adhikari, K., Ballabio, C., Greve, M., Grundy, M., Guerrero, E., Hempel, J., Hengl, T., Heuvelink, G., Batjes, N., Carvalho, E., Hartemink, A., Hewitt, A., Hong, S.-Y., Krasilnikov, P., Lagacherie, P., Lelyk, G., Libohova, Z., Lilly, A., McBratney, A., McKenzie, N., Vasquez, G.M., Mulder, V.L., Minasny, B., Montanarella, L., Odeh, I., Padarian, J., Poggio, L., Roudier, P., Saby, N., Savin, I., Searle, R., Solbovoy, V., Thompson, J., Smith, S., Sulaeman, Y., Vintila, R., Viscarra Rossel, R., Wilson, P., Zhang, G.-L., Swerts, M., Oorts, K., Karklins, A., Feng, L., Ibelles Navarro, A.R., Levin, A., Laktionova, T., Dell'Acqua, M., Suvannang, N., Ruam, W., Prasad, J., Patil, N., Husnjak, S., Pásztor, L., Okx, J., Hallett, S., Keay, C., Farewell, T., Lilja, H., Juilleret, J., Marx, S., Takata, Y., Kazuyuki, Y., Mansuy, N., Panagos, P., Van Liedekerke, M., Skalsky, R., Sobocka, J., Kobza, J., Eftekhari, K., Kacem Alavipanah, S., Moussadek, R., Badraoui, M., Da Silva, M., Paterson, G., da Conceição Gonçalves, M., Theocharopoulos, S., Yemefack, M., Tedou, S., Vrscaj, B., Grob, U., Kozák, J., Boruvka, L., Dobos, E., Taboada, M., Moretti, L., Rodriguez, D., 2017. Soil legacy data rescue via GlobalSoilMap and other international and national initiatives. GeoResJ 14, 1-19. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.grj.2017.06.001.
- Arrouays, D., McBratney, A.B., Bouma, J., Libohova, Z., Richer-de-Forges, A.C., Morgan, C., Roudier, P., Poggio, L., Mulder, V.L., 2020. Impressions of digital soil maps: the good,

the not so good, and making them ever better. Geoderma Reg. 20, e00255. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geodrs.2020.e00255.

- Bestelmeyer, B.B.T., Brown, J.R., 2016. An introduction to the special issue on ecological sites. Rangelands 38 (6), 311–312.
- Chaney, N.W., Wood, E.F., McBratney, A.B., Hempel, J.W., Nauman, T.W., Brungard, C.W., et al., 2016. POLARIS: a 30-meter probabilistic soil series map of the contiguous United States. Geoderma 274, 54–67. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geoderma.2016.03.025.
- Bliss, N.B., Waltman, S.W., Petersen, G.W., 1995. Preparing a soil carbon inventory for the United States using geographic information systems. In: Lal, R., Kimble, J., Levine, E., Stewart, B.A. (Eds.), Soils and Global Change. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, pp. 275–295.
- Chaney, N.W., Minasny, B., Herman, J.D., Nauman, T.W., Brungard, C.W., Morgan, C.L., McBratney, A.B., Wood, E.F., Yimam, Y., 2019. POLARIS soil properties: 30-m probabilistic maps of soil properties over the contiguous United States. Water Resour. Res. 55 (4), 2916–2938.
- Folberth, C., Skalský, R., Moltchanova, E., Balkovič, J., Azevedo, L.B., Obersteiner, M., van der Velde, M., 2016. Uncertainty in soil data can outweigh climate impact signals in global crop yield simulations. Nat. Commun. 7 (May), 11872.
- Grundy, M.J., Rossel, R.V., Searle, R.D., Wilson, P.L., Chen, C., Gregory, L.J., 2015. Soil and landscape grid of Australia. Soil Res. 53 (8), 835–844.
- Grunwald, S., Thompson, J.A., Boettinger, J.L., 2011. Digital soil mapping and modeling at continental scales – finding solutions for global issues. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 75 (4), 1201–1213 SSSA 75th Anniversary Special Paper.
- Helmick, J.L., Nauman, T.W., Thompson, J.A., 2014. Developing and assessing prediction intervals for soil property maps derived from legacy databases. In: Arrouays, D., et al. (Eds.), GlobalSoilMap: Basis of the Global Soil Information System. CRC Press, Boca Ratan, FL, pp. 359–366.
- Hengl, T., de Jesus, J.M., MacMillan, R.A., Batjes, N.H., Heuvelink, G.B., Ribeiro, E., et al., 2014. SoilGrids1km: global soil information based on automated mapping. PLoS One 9 (8), e105992. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0105992.
- Hengl, T., Mendes de Jesus, J., Heuvelink, G.B., Ruiperez Gonzalez, M., Kilibarda, M., Blagotić, A., et al., 2017. SoilGrids250m: global gridded soil information based on machine learning. PLoS One 12 (2), e0169748. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0169748.
- Libohova, Z., Wills, S., Odgers, N.P., Ferguson, R., Nesser, R.F., Thompson, J.A., West, L.T., Hempel, J.W., 2014. Converting pH 1:1 H2O and 1:2 CaCl2 to 1:5 H2O to contribute to a harmonized global soil database. Geoderma 213, 544–550. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.geoderma.2013.08.019.
- Malone, B.P., Minasny, B., Odgers, N.P., McBratney, A.B., 2014. Using model averaging to combine soil property rasters from legacy soil maps and from point data. Geoderma 232–234, 34–44.
- McBratney, A.B., Mendoca Santos, M.L., Minasny, B., 2003. On digital soil mapping. Geoderma 117, 3–52.
- McBratney, A., Field, D.J., Koch, A., 2014. The dimensions of soil security. Geoderma 213, 203–213.
- McKay, J., Grunwald, S., Shi, X., Long, R., 2010. Evaluation of the transferability of a knowledge-based soil-landscape model. In: Boettinger, J.L., Howell, D.W., Moore, A.C., Hartemink, A.E., Kienast-Brown, S. (Eds.), Digital Soil Mapping: Bridging Research, Environmental Application, and Operation. Springer, New York, pp. 165–179.

Minasny, B., McBratney, A.B., 2016. Digital soil mapping: a brief history and some lessons. Geoderma 264, 301–311.

- Mulder, V.L., Lacoste, M., Richer-de-Forges, A.C., Arrouays, D., 2016a. GlobalSoilMap France: high resolution spatial modelling the soils of France up to two meter depth. Sci. Total Environ. 573, 1352–1369.
- Mulder, V.L., Lacoste, M., Richer-de-Forges, A.C., Martin, M.P., Arrouays, D., 2016b. National versus global modelling the 3D distribution of soil organic carbon in mainland France. Geoderma 263, 16–34.
- Nauman, T.W., Duniway, M.C., 2016. The automated reference toolset: A soil-geomorphic ecological potential matching algorithm. Soil Science Society of America Journal 80 (5), 1317–1328. https://doi.org/10.2136/sssaj2016.05.0151.
- Nauman, T.W., Duniway, M.C., 2019. Relative prediction intervals reveal larger uncertainty in 3D approaches to predictive digital soil mapping of soil properties with legacy data. Geoderma 347, 170–184. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geoderma.2019.03.037.
- Nauman, T.W., Thompson, J.A., 2014. Semi-automated disaggregation of conventional soil maps using knowledge driven data mining and classification trees. Geoderma 213, 385–399. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geoderma.2013.08.024.

- Nauman, T.W., Thompson, J.A., Rasmussen, C., 2014. Semi-automated disaggregation of a conventional soil map using knowledge driven data mining and random forests in the Sonoran Desert, USA. Photogramm. Eng. Remote Sens. 80 (4), 353–366.
- Nauman, T.W., Thompson, J.A., Teets, J., Dilliplane, T., Bell, J.W., Connolly, S.J., Liebermann, H.J., Yoast, K., 2015. Pedoecological Modeling to Guide Forest Restoration using Ecological Site Descriptions. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 79 (5), 1406–1419. https://doi.org/ 10.2136/sssaj2015.02.0062.
- Nauman, T.W., Duniway, M.C., Villarreal, M.L., Poitras, T.B., 2017. Disturbance automated reference toolset (DART): Assessing patterns in ecological recovery from energy development on the Colorado Plateau. Science of the Total Environment 584, 476–488 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.01.034.
- Odgers, N.P., Libohova, Z., Thompson, J.A., 2012. Equal-area spline functions applied to a legacy soil database to map soil organic carbon at a continental scale. Geoderma 189, 153–163.
- Odgers, N.P., Sun, W., McBratney, A.B., Minasny, B., Clifford, D., 2014. Disaggregating and harmonising soil map units through resampled classification trees. Geoderma 214, 91–100. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geoderma.2013.09.024.
- Padarian, J., Minasny, B., McBratney, A.B., 2017. Chile and the Chilean soil grid: a contribution to GlobalSoilMap. Geoderma Regional 9, 17–28. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. geodrs.2016.12.001.
- PRISM Climate Group, 2015. Oregon State University. http://prism.oregonstate.edu (created 2 Nov 2015).
- Ramcharan, A., Hengl, T., Nauman, T., Brungard, C., Waltman, S., Wills, S., Thompson, J., 2018. Soil property and class maps of the conterminous US at 100 meter spatial resolution based on a compilation of soil point observations and machine learning. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 82, 186–201.
- Sanchez, P.A., Ahamed, S., Carre, F., Hartemink, A.E., Hempel, J., Huising, J., Lagacherie, P., McBratney, A.B., McKenzie, N.J., Mendonca-Santos, M.L., Minasny, B., Montanarella, L., Okoth, P., Palm, C.A., Sachs, J.D., Shepherd, K.D., Vagen, T.-G., Vanlauwe, B., Walsh, M.G., Winowiecki, L.A., Zhang, G.-L., 2009. Digital soil map of the world. Science 325, 680–681.
- Shi, X., Zhu, A.-X., Burt, J., Qi, F., Simonson, D., 2004. A case-based reasoning approach to fuzzy soil mapping. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 68, 885–894.
- Shi, X., Long, R., Dekett, R., Philippe, J., 2009. Integrating different types of knowledge for digital soil mapping. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 73, 1682–1692.
- Shi, X., Girod, L., Long, R., DeKett, R., Philippe, J., Burke, T., 2012. A comparison of LiDARbased DEMs and USGS-sourced DEMs in terrain analysis for knowledge-based digital soil mapping. Geoderma 170, 217–226.
- Soil Conservation Service, 1991. State soil geographic data base (STATSGO): Data users guide. U.S. Department of Agriculture, Soil Conservation Service, Miscellaneous Publication 1492, U.S. Government Printing Office.
- Soil Science Division Staff, 2017. Soil survey manual. In: Ditzler, C., Scheffe, K., Monger, H.C. (Eds.), USDA Handbook 18. Government Printing Office, Washington, D.C.
- Subburayalu, S.K., Jenhani, I., Slater, B.K., 2014. Disaggregation of component soil series on an Ohio County soil survey map using possibilistic decision trees. Geoderma 213, 334–345.
- Sulaeman, Y., Minasny, B., McBratney, A.B., Sarwani, M., Sutandi, A., 2013. Harmonizing legacy soil data for digital soil mapping in Indonesia. Geoderma 192, 77–85.
- Sun, W., McBratney, A., Hempel, J., Minasny, B., Malone, B., D'Avello, T., Burras, L., Thompson, J.A., 2010. Digital harmonisation of adjacent analogue soil survey areas -4 lowa Counties. Proceedings of the 4th Global Workshop on Digital Soil Mapping, Rome, Italy, May 24-26, 2010.
- Thompson, J.A., Nauman, T., Odgers, N., Libohova, Z., Hempel, J., 2012. Harmonization of legacy soil maps in North America: Status, trends, and implications for digital soil mapping efforts. In: Minasny, B., et al. (Eds.), Digital Soil Assessments and Beyond. Proc. of the 5th Global Workshop on Digital Soil Mapping, Sydney, Australia, 2012. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL.
- Viscarra Rossel, R.A., Chen, C., Grundy, M.J., Searle, R., Clifford, D., Campbell, P.H., 2015. The Australian three-dimensional soil grid: Australia's contribution to the GlobalSoilMap project. Soil Res. 53 (8), 845–864.
- Wood, E.F., Roundy, J.K., Troy, T.J., Van Beek, L.P.H., Bierkens, M.F., Blyth, E., de Roo, A., Döll, P., Ek, M., Famiglietti, J., Gochis, D., 2011. Hyperresolution global land surface modeling: meeting a grand challenge for monitoring Earth's terrestrial water. Water Resour. Res. 47 (5).